2005

## J. J. Abernathy v. John Mzik : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## JURISDICTION OF THE UTAH COURT OF APPEALS

Jurisdiction is proper in the Utah Court of Appeals pursuant to the transfer of jurisdiction by the Utah Supreme Court to the Utah Court of Appeals pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §78-2a-3.

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

### ISSUE NO. 1

Did The Trial Court Properly Interpret “Emotional Distress” In Its Finding That The Respondent Engaged In A Course Of Conduct That Would Cause A Reasonable Person To Suffer Emotional Distress?

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

The proper interpretation and application of a statute is a question of law which we review for correctness, affording no deference to the district court’s legal conclusions. Gutierrez v. Medley, 972 P.2d 913, 914-15 (Utah 1998).

### STATEMENT OF GROUNDS

The trial court never allowed opening arguments, nor closing arguments in order to present and argue the issues.

### ISSUE NO. 2

Whether the Civil Stalking Junction is unconstitutional by being overly broad so as to limit a person’s right to free speech and criticism?

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

The challenge to the constitutionality of a statute presents a questions of law, which we review for correctness. Ross v. Schackel, 920 P.2d 1159, 1162 (Utah 1996).; Ryan v. Gold Cross Servs., Inc., 903 P.2d 423, 424 (Utah 1995).

## STATEMENT OF GROUNDS

The trial court never allowed opening arguments, nor closing arguments in order to present and argue the issues.

## DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, ORDINANCES AND RULES

Utah Const. Art. 1, §1  
Utah Code Ann. §76-5-106.5  
Utah Code Ann. §77-3A-101  
Utah Code Ann. §78-2a-3

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### 1. NATURE OF THE CASE

This appeal is from the entry of a Civil Stalking Injunction from the Fifth Judicial District in and for Washington County, State of Utah.

### 2. STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. This case involves a high school teacher, Mrs. Abernathy (R. 266, p. 8, 19 – p. 9, 10), and the parent of a student, John Mzik. On December 31, 2004, the Respondent and Mrs. Abernathy had a heated conversation regarding Mr. Mzik’s daughter’s grade for

the semester. (R. 266, p. 11, 4, - p. 19, 12). The trial court found that this conversation did not rise to the level of a civil stalking injunction. (R. 266, p. 140, 21-25).

B. On January 3, 2005, the Respondent and his wife met with Mrs. Abernathy and the high school principal, Mr. Facrel, in his office. (R. 266, p. 19, 15-22).

C. This meeting lasted approximately three hours. (R. 266, p. 19, 23-25).

D. During the meeting, Mr. Mzik brought up a possible violation of the student's confidentiality policy. (R. 266, p. 22, 13 – 21).

E. Mrs. Abernathy testified that at one point during the meeting Mr. Mzik pounded several times on Mr. Facrel's desk and waived his papers around. (R. 266, p. 23, 21-25).

F. Mrs. Mzik testified that she was the one who pounded on the desk and that she did it only once out of frustration because Mrs. Abernathy would not let her finish a complete sentence. (R. 266, p. 94, 11-25).

G. The principal, Mr. Facrel, testified that at some point during this meeting, Mr. Mzik tore a piece of paper out of a notebook, crumpled it up and threw it. (R. 266, p. 68, 3-5). Mr. Facrel testified that Mr. Mzik did not throw the papers towards Mrs. Abernathy. (R. 266, p. 68, 21-23). The principal characterized the Respondent's comments during the meeting as accusatory, uncomplimentary and quarrelsome. (R. 266, p. 69, 9-13). Mr. Facrel also testified that the meeting was the worst parent/teacher



meeting he had ever experienced and that it rated an 8 and a scale from 1 to 10 with 10 being the most argumentative. (R. 266, p. 67, 8-25).

H. Mr. Facrel stated that there were not any threats made during the meeting. (R. 266, p. 77, 1-4).

I. The Trial Court said the following in making its findings, “I do find specifically that in that encounter Mr. Mzik grabbed a sheet of paper off of Mr. Facrel’s desk, tore it out of whatever it was being held in, crumpled it and threw it. This is a physically threatening and violent action.” (R. 266, p.141, 4-9).

J. On January 10, 2005, the Respondent went to the high school to deliver a grievance letter to Mrs. Abernathy. The Respondent took his tape recorder with him to record the events. Mr. Mzik placed the recorder close to Mrs. Abernathy’s mouth and stated his name and time of day and that he was delivering a letter to Mrs. Abernathy. (R. 266, p. 24, 8 – p. 27, 5; p. 116, 4-16).

K. Mrs. Abernathy responded, “I’m not going to take it from you because you’ve threatened legal action already on two occasions, so I’m not going to accept this letter.” (R. 266, p. 27, 7 – 10; p. 117, 2-7).

L. Mr. Mzik held the recorder approximately one foot away from Mrs. Abernathy. (R. 266, p. 27, 11 – 21).

M. Mrs. Abernathy then asked the secretary to call Officer Hugey immediately. (R. 266, p. 28, 4 – 7).

N. The Court asked Mr. Mzik why he chose to hand-deliver the request rather than send it in the mail. Mr. Mzik responded, “I like dealing with people on a personal level face to face. It’s always been my way. Mr. Facrel had gotten rid of my confidence, you know, when he would not return my call and not tell me personally his decision. I wanted to see him and tell him that I have a problem with this and that I am going to the next level. I didn’t want to do it behind his back.” (R. 266, p. 120, 14-22).

O. The Trial Court viewed this as a misguided attempt and that it was a confrontational method rather than utilizing the postal service to deliver the mail. The Trial Court found this event to be the second circumstance that met the burden of proof for a Civil Stalking Injunction. (R. 266, p. 141, 10-23).

P. On May 26, 2005, Snow Canyon High School held its graduation. Mr. Mzik was there in attendance to see his daughter graduate. Because of the previous incidents with Mr. Mzik, the principal asked Mrs. Abernathy not to sit on the podium as usual. (R. 266, p. 39, 13 – p. 14, 7).

Q. Mrs. Abernathy chose to attend and she sat in the audience with her husband. (R. 266, p. 41, 17-25). At some point during the graduation ceremony, Mr. Mzik left his seat and walked around the arena. Mr. Mzik testified that he wanted to get a closer look at the band. (R. 266, p. 125, 11-25). While walking, Mr. Mzik walked by where Mr. and Mrs. Abernathy were seated. Mr. Mzik approached Mr. and Mrs. Abernathy and said, “You are the most disgusting excuse for a teacher,” to Mrs. Abernathy. (R. 266, p. 42, 1-

6; p. 82, 17-22). Mr. Mzik testified that he said, “You’re a disgrace to the teaching profession.” (R. 266, p. 127, 2-3). Mr. Abernathy jumped up out of his seat and pushed Mr. Mzik in the chest causing Mr. Mzik to step backwards three feet. (R. 266, p. 43, 7 - 13; p. 82, 22 – p. 83, 13; p. 127, 3-8). Mr. Mzik said to Mr. Abernathy, “Hey buddy, you want to go to jail? and Hey buddy, you want to fight?” (R. 266, p.43, 21-24; p. 83, 16-17). Mr. Mzik testified that he said, “If you hti me again I’ll call the police.” (R. 266, p. 127, 23-24). Mr. Abernathy did not approach Mr. Mzik any further and Mr. Mzik left. (R. 266, The Trial Court found that this incident was a third incident that met the burden of proof for a Civil Stalking Injunction. (R. 266, p. 141, 24 – p. 142, 5).

R. When Mrs. Abernathy was asked if she liked criticism, she replied, “I’ve been around a long time, and I can deal with valid criticism; but I can’t stomach lies and prevarication and distortion of truth.” (R. 266, p. 54, 3-6).

S. When Mrs. Abernathy was asked is she felt that lies, distortion of truth and unwarranted criticism as threats, she responded, “Well, I can tell you that I have been threatened by Mr. and Mrs. Mzik in their manners and in their behavior, the documents that they have filed. They’ve gone to the State Professional Practices. They’ve gone to the newspaper. They’ve gone to other teachers. They’ve gone to students. They’ve gone to parents. Those are threats. Their documentation is full of prevarication. I think in this case it is all inclusive. It shows something about the nature of these people, and I fear them.” (R. 266, p. 54, 7-21).

T. When Mrs. Abernathy was asked to name one threat of physical violence that any of the three people named in the petition have made, she responded, “I don’t think – I have not had any physical violence, but I’ve had the fear of physical violence. I’ve had the fear of harassment, of slander, defamation of character.” (R. 266, p. 54, 22-p.55, 2).

U. When Mrs. Abernathy was asked why she felt threatened personally if the Mzikis threatened legal action, she replied, “Because I feel that behavior is destructive. It doesn’t contribute to – you must understand that Mr. and Mrs. Mzik in this whole issue that’s taken place since December 30<sup>th</sup> and 31<sup>st</sup> to even now has been - - it has been a hardship, I believe. It has taken its toll on students in the Washington County School District, the administrators who have had to spend their resources and their energies on something that is frivolous. There needs to be a stop to this. It is a frivolous charge. Those charges against me are frivolous.” (R. 266, p. 58, 1-13).

V. When Mrs. Abernathy was asked if she filed the civil stalking injunction to mainly stop those frivolous charges, she stated, “To protect me physically, to stop the feelings that I feel when I see the Mzikis, the feeling of fear, emotional distress, the erratic behavior. I don’t want to have to be confronted with that. (R. 266, p. 58, 14-19).

W. The Civil Stalking Injunction was entered on October 28, 2005. (R. 233).

X. The Notice of Appeal was filed on November 28, 2005. (R. 252).

Y. An Objection to the Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law was filed on November 28, 2005, after the Notice of Appeal was filed. (R. 256).

Z. On December 20, 2005, the Trial Court heard the Objection Motion on the Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law and made an order. The Trial Court recognized that it did not have jurisdiction because the Notice of Appeal had been filed, but made a recommendation to be entered when the court resumes jurisdiction. (R. 260).

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

#### ISSUE NO. 1

The Trial Court used the wrong standard of emotional distress when it found that Mr. Mzik's action of crumpling up a piece of paper and throwing it not at the Petitioner, out of frustration and his choice to personally serve a letter with a recorder created the requisite level of emotional distress in the Petitioner to justify a civil stalking injunction. The Court in Ellison v. Stam found that even the level of emotional distress created in a victim of sexual assault seeing the perpetrator did not rise to the requisite level of emotional distress.

#### ISSUE NO. 2

The Trial Court deprived the Respondent of his constitutional rights of free speech when it found that the Respondent's actions of crumpling a piece of paper and throwing not in the direction of the Petitioner and personally serving a letter of grievance justified the entry of a civil stalking injunction.

## ARGUMENTS

### ISSUE NO. 1

Did The Trial Court Properly Interpret “Emotional Distress” In Its Finding That The Respondent Engaged In A Course Of Conduct That Would Cause A Reasonable Person To Suffer Emotional Distress And Should A Public Employee Have A Higher Standard?

The Utah Civil Stalking Injunctions Statute, Utah Code Ann. §76-5-106.5, does not in itself define “Stalking” per se. It refers to the Utah Criminal Stalking Statute for its definition, as follows: “A person is guilty of stalking who: (a) intentionally or knowingly engages in a course of conduct directed at a specific person that would cause a reasonable person: (i) to fear bodily injury to himself or a member of his immediate family; or (ii) to suffer emotional distress to himself or a member of his immediate family; . . . “ Utah Code Ann. §76-5-106.5(2) in relevant part.

In Ellison v. Stam, 549 Utah Adv. Rep. 24, 2006 (Utah App. 2006), the Court of Appeals states, “the burden is on the petitioner to show by a preponderance of the evidence that staling of the petitioner by the respondent has occurred. . . In other words, to avoid having the injunction revoked, the petitioner must demonstrate by a preponderance of the evidence that respondent’s conduct satisfies the elements of section 76-5-106.5.” Id.

“Emotion Distress” has been further defined by State v. Lopez, 935 P.2d, 1259, 64 (Ut. Ct. App. 1997) as, “emotional distress results from conduct that is outrageous and intolerable in that it offends the generally accepted standards of decency and morality.”

The proper interpretation and application of a statute is a question of law which we review for correctness, affording no deference to the district court's legal conclusions.

Gutierrez v. Medley, 972 P.2d 913, 914-15 (Utah 1998).

The Trial Court never articulated its standard for "emotional distress," but did find that in reference to the first instance: "I do find specifically that in that encounter Mr. Mzik grabbed a sheet of paper off of Mr. Facrel's desk, tore it out of whatever it was being held in, crumpled it and threw it. This is a physically threatening and violent action." (R. 266, p.141, 4-9).

In reference to the second instance: the Trial Court viewed this as a misguided attempt and that it was a confrontational method rather than utilizing the postal service to deliver the mail. The Trial Court found this event to be the second circumstance that met the burden of proof for a Civil Stalking Injunction. (R. 266, p. 141, 10-23).

In reference to the third instance: the Trial Court found that this incident was a third incident that met the burden of proof for a Civil Stalking Injunction. (R. 266, p. 141, 24 – p. 142, 5).

In not stating its standard it is difficult to determine what standard the court should have used. The standard the court should have used is the standard articulated in State v. Lopez, as conduct that is outrageous and intolerable in that it offends the generally accepted standards of decency and morality.

It does not appear that the Trial Court used this standard because it found that Mr. Mzik tearing a piece of paper out of a binder, crumpling it up and then throwing it offends the generally accepted standard of decency and morality. In addition, Mr. Facrel testified that Mr. Mzik did not throw the papers towards Mrs. Abernathy. (R. 266, p. 68, 21-23). He also testified that there were not any threats made during the meeting. (R. 266, p. 77, 1-4).

In marshalling the evidence, Mr. Facrel did testify that the meeting was the worst parent/teacher meeting he had ever experienced and that it rated an 8 and a scale from 1 to 10 with 10 being the most argumentative. (R. 266, p. 67, 8-25). He also stated that the Respondent's comments during the meeting were accusatory, uncomplimentary and quarrelsome. (R. 266, p. 69, 9-13).

Just because a frustrated person during an argumentative meeting, crumples up a piece of paper and throws it not in a direction towards the Petitioner, does not mean that conduct is outrageous and intolerable in that it offends the generally accepted standards of decency and morality.

In Ellison v. Stam, the Respondent, Stam, sexually assaulted the Petitioner, Ellison. After the assault, on eight different occasions, the Respondent would glare at the Petitioner while she was working at a cash register, standing outside her dormitory, walking in her dormitory, attending a campus activity, attending bingo night, attending club competition night, attending a basketball game, and attending the fall ball. Id. The



Petitioner had subjective reasons to be frightened of the Respondent, but the Court held, “Although the court finds that the conduct of Stam on August 25, 2004 in the park was outrageous and intolerable, in that it offends the generally accepted standards of decency and morality, the court cannot find that Stam’s behavior in any of the eight incidents rose to the level of ‘outrageous and intolerable.’ While his presence on those occasions may have caused Ellison to be anxious, scared, or to suffer a panic attack, and may have been insensitive, ungentlemanly, and inconsiderate, given Stam’s outrageous and intolerable conduct in the part, it was not outrageous and intolerable during the eight incidents because his presence and conduct on those occasions did not offend generally accepted standards of decency and morality.” Id.

In comparing the decision in the Ellison v. Stam case versus this case, it is difficult to find that Mr. Mzik did anything in crumpling up a piece of paper and throwing it not in the direction of the Petitioner, that this behavior offends generally accepted standard of decency and morality. When one compares the level of emotional distress a rape victim feels when seeing the perpetrator to the level of emotional distress Mrs. Abernathy felt in participating in a meeting where Mr. Mzik threw a piece of paper out of frustration, the court could not have applied the correct standard of “emotional distress” in determining that this incident rose to the level of emotional distress sufficient for the placement of a civil stalking injunction.

In regards to the second incident, the same logic and the same standard applies. When Mr. Mzik placed a recorder close the Mrs. Abernathy in trying to serve a letter of grievance upon her does not cause a normal person more emotional distress than the level of emotional distress caused to the Petitioner in the Stam case. People are served in person everyday by process servers and they are not considered to be suffering unreasonable amounts of emotional distress because someone served a paper upon them. Mr. Mzik was following the school guidelines and chose to personally serve the letter rather than mail it. Mr. Mzik was within his legal rights and did not cause Mrs. Abernathy enough emotional distress, to merit a finding that this incident rose to the level of a civil stalking injunction.

In regards to the third incident, the Respondent admitted that this was not the best thing to do this incident could have been found to rise to the level of a civil stalking injunction, but under the Civil Stalking Injunction Statute, it takes two or more incidents to be considered stalking. At best, the trial court could have found one incident within its proper discretion.

In addition to the emotional distress standard, Mrs. Abernathy was a public employee in a position where criticism and some contention between parents and teachers would be expected. There should be a higher standard for emotional distress for a public employee than a private citizen.

## ISSUE NO. 2

Whether The Civil Stalking Junction Is Unconstitutional By Being Overly Broad So As To Limit A Person's Right To Free Speech And Criticism?

The Utah Constitution grants a person the right of free speech and even the right to express criticism. It states, "All men have the inherent and inalienable right to enjoy and defend their lives and liberties; to acquire, possess and protect property; to worship according to the dictates of their consciences; to assemble peaceably, protest against wrongs, and petition for redress of grievances; to communicate freely their thoughts and opinions, being responsible for the abuse of that right." Utah Const. Art. 1 §1.

The challenge to the constitutionality of a statute presents a question of law, which we review for correctness. Ross v. Schackel, 920 P.2d 1159, 1162 (Utah 1996).; Ryan v. Gold Cross Servs., Inc., 903 P.2d 423, 424 (Utah 1995).

Mr. Mzik did nothing to abuse his right of free speech in crumpling up a piece of paper and throwing it not towards the Petitioner and in personally serving a letter of grievance with a microphone.

Essentially the Civil Stalking Injunction as it was applied in this case took away Mr. Mzik's right of free speech, right to petition for redress of grievances, and his right to protect against wrongs.

When Mrs. Abernathy was asked if she liked criticism, she replied, "I've been around a long time, and I can deal with valid criticism; but I can't stomach lies and prevarication and distortion of truth." (R. 266, p. 54, 3-6).

When Mrs. Abernathy was asked if she felt that lies, distortion of truth and unwarranted criticism as threats, she responded, “Well, I can tell you that I have been threatened by Mr. and Mrs. Mzik in their manners and in their behavior, the documents that they have filed. They’ve gone to the State Professional Practices. They’ve gone to the newspaper. They’ve gone to other teachers. They’ve gone to students. They’ve gone to parents. Those are threats. Their documentation is full of prevarication. I think in this case it is all inclusive. It shows something about the nature of these people, and I fear them.” (R. 266, p. 54, 7-21).

When Mrs. Abernathy was asked to name one threat of physical violence that any of the three people named in the petition have made, she responded, “I don’t think – I have not had any physical violence, but I’ve had the fear of physical violence. I’ve had the fear of harassment, of slander, defamation of character.” (R. 266, p. 54, 22- p.55, 2).

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