2005

J. J. Abernathy v. John Mzik : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Mr. Mzik failed to preserve the issues he asserts on appeal before the Trial Court. Failure to preserve the issues for appeal is fatal and the appeal must be dismissed. In addition, Mr. Mzik failed to marshal the evidence in support of the trial court's decision, and such failure also warrants dismissal of the appeal. The Civil Injunction was never so broad as to impose on free speech rights, nor did it fail to properly interpret and apply the term "emotional distress" as used in the Civil Stalking Injunction statute. (Utah Code Ann. §76-5-106.5 (2001)).

ARGUMENT

I

APPELLANT'S BRIEF IS PROCEDURALLY, TECHNICALLY AND SUBSTANTIVELY DEFECTIVE AND SHOULD BE STRICKEN, THE APPEAL DISMISSED AND THE JUDGMENT AND ORDER OF THE TRIAL COURT SUSTAINED.

Appellant's Brief is procedurally, technically and substantively defective and should be stricken and not considered on appeal. Appellant violates most of the Rules governing the form of Briefs. (Rules 24, 26, 27 and Form 8 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure). The Brief starts with numbering on the cover page rather than the first page of his argument; the Table of Authorities does not have any citations to cases, let alone parallel citations as required by Rule; the page numbers for cited cases are in several respects incorrect, and in least one instance, the referenced case is not even cited correctly.¹ The relevant statutes and cases although cited are not set out in full or attached.

Appellant's Brief raises constitutionality challenges to the Civil Stalking Injunction statute (Utah Code Annotated §76-5-106.5 (2001)) but fails to adequately develop them, as argued below. Furthermore, Mz. Mizik has failed to preserve his claimed issues for appeal or marshal the evidence in support of the Trial Court's decision.

¹State v. Lopez cited by Appellant on page 13 of his Brief appears to actually be Salt Lake City v. Lopez, 935 P.2d 1259 (Ut. Ct. App. 1997). No citation for this case, or any case is provided in Appellant's Table of Authorities.

A. Appellant's Failed to Preserve the Issues on Appeal below.

It is well established that a party must raised issues below or they will not be heard for the first time on appeal. Interiors Contracting v. Smith, Halander, 881 P.2d 929 (Utah App. 1994). To preserve a substantive issue for appeal, a party must timely bring the issue to the attention of the trial court, thus providing the court an opportunity to rule on the issue's merits. Turtle Management, Inc. v. Haggis Management, Inc., 645 P.2d 667, 672 (Utah 1982); James v. Preston, 746 P.2d 799,801-02 (Utah App. 1987). "Issues not raised in the trial court in timely fashion are deemed waived, precluding [the appellate court] from considering their merits on appeal." Salt Lake County v. Carlston, 776 P.2d 653, 655 (Utah App. 1989).

This rule is "stringently applied when the new theory depends on controverted factual questions whose relevance thereto was not made to appear at trial." Id. (quoting Bogacki v. Board of Supervisors, 5 Cal.3d 771, 489 P.2d 537, 543-44, 97 Cal.Rptr. 657, 663-64 (1971), cert. denied, 405 U.S. 1030, 92 S.Ct. 1301, 31 L.Ed.2d 488 (1972)).

No where in the record does it reflect that Respondent/Appellant preserved his issues for appeal. Mr. Mzik's claim in his Brief that "[T]he trial court never allowed opening arguments, nor closing arguments in order to present and argue the issues," is unpersuasive as there is no indication in the record that he ever requested opening or closing arguments. Nor does it appear even remotely possible that the issues identified by Mr. Mzik could have been presented in opening

statements or closing arguments, even if they had been allowed.

Although neither party requested closing arguments, at the conclusion of testimony the Court had the following exchange with Mr. Mzik's Counsel:

THE COURT: Mr. Braithwaite, any finding that you want the Court to look at or specific modifications in what my order should be?

MR. BRAITHWAITE: Just with regards to the scope of the order. The 50 yards would also apply to the school. Mr. Mzik has kids that go to the school.

THE COURT: And I figured that the 50 yards is adequate in order to keep that so that the Mziks can go reasonably to the school.

However, I have to tell you that I do not have the school district as a party before me. If the school district wishes to take some action regarding the Mziks, that's not before me. Only Mrs. Abernathy is before me. So I cannot impact the school district. They are not a part to this litigation, Counsel.

The protective zone, the 50 yards that I contemplated would allow the Abernathy – Mr. And Mrs. Abernathy to be secure and still allow the Mziks to look after the education of their other daughters.

MR. BRAITHWAITE: So it would be like 50 yards from Mrs. Abernathy within the school?

THE COURT: Yes, Counsel.

MR. BRAITHWAITE: Would that be more accurate?

THE COURT: That is what I am thinking about.

MR. BRAITHWAITE: Thank you, your Honor.

(R. at 266, pg. 144-45).

In addition, a copy of the proposed Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and

Order in re: Civil stalking Injunction were provided for Mr. Mzik's review and approval prior to being entered by the Court. Although Mr. Mzik's Counsel refused to "approve them as to form", the Court nevertheless, approved, signed and entered the Order on October 27, 2005.

Mr. Mzik subsequently filed written objections to the Findings (R. at 245-47). Respondent did not assert the issues he now raises on appeal in those objections. Although a Hearing was held on those objections, Respondent has not provided a transcript, although the Court Record shows that they were denied. (R. at 260).

A party is not allowed to raise issues for the first time on appeal and Mr. Mzik's failure to preserve his asserted issues for appeal is fatal to his appeal.

B. Appellant Failed to Marshal the Evidence in Support of the Trial Court's Decision.

An Appellant has a duty to marshal the evidence in support of the trial court's decision and show that it is insufficient. Gilmor v. Wright, 850 P.2d 431, 433 (Utah 1993). It is well-established that a party challenging a Trial Court's Findings of Fact has the burden of establishing that those Findings are not supported by the evidence and thus, are clearly erroneous. See, Utah R. Civ. P. 52(a); Cambelt International Corp. v. Dalton, 745 P.2d 1239, 1242 (Utah 1987). Although Mr. Mzik couches his issues in legal terms, his Brief clearly reflects that he is also challenging the trial court's Findings as well.

In order to successfully challenge a Trial Court's findings of fact on appeal, an Appellant must list all the evidence supporting the Findings and then demonstrate

that the evidence is inadequate to sustain the Findings, when viewed in a light most favorable to the Court's decision below. Valcarce v. Fitzgerald, 961 P.2d 305, 312 (Utah 1998).

Utah's Courts have stated that the marshaling process is not unlike being the devil's advocate. An Appellant may not merely present selected evidence favorable to his or her position without presenting any of the evidence supporting the lower Court's Findings. See, Whitewar v. Labor Commission, 973 P.2d 982 (Utah App., 1998).

In order to properly discharge the duty of marshaling the evidence, the challenger must present, in comprehensive and fastidious order, every scrap of competent evidence introduced at trial which supports the very findings appellant resists. After constructing this magnificent array of supporting evidence, the challenger must ferret out a fatal flaw in the evidence. The gravity of this flaw must be sufficient to convince the appellate court that the court's finding resting upon the evidence is clearly erroneous.

West Valley City v. Majestic Inventory Co., 818 P.2d 1311, 1315 (Utah Ct. App. 1991).

Marshaling the evidence on an appeal is a process fundamentally different from that of presenting their claims at the Hearing. As the Utah Supreme Court explained in Chen v. Stewart, 2004 UT 82, 100 P.3d 1177 (Utah, 2004), in a recent, extensive attempt to reiterate the requirements of marshaling:

Appellants cannot merely present carefully selected facts and excerpts from the record in support of their position [citing cases]. Nor can they simply restate or review evidence that points to an alternate finding or a finding contrary to the trial court's finding of fact [citing cases]. Furthermore, appellants cannot shift the burden of marshaling by falsely claiming that there is no evidence in support of the trial court's

findings. Id. at 1195.

The Court went on to emphasize that, "If the marshaling requirement is not met, the appellate court has grounds to affirm the court's findings on that basis alone" and "we assume that the evidence supports the trial court's findings." Id. at 1196. See also, Merriam v. Industrial Commission, 812 P.2d 447, 450 (Utah Ct. App. 1991); Featherstone v. Industrial Commission, 877 P.2d 1251, 1254 (Utah Ct. App. 1994).

In this case, the trial court made 48 specific Findings of Fact to support the imposition of the Civil Stalking Injunction. (See, Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order in re: Civil stalking Injunction, attached hereto as Addenda "B" and found at R. at 233-243).

Mr. Mzik makes almost no attempt to marshal the evidence and cited at best 26 so called "statements of fact," most of which are argumentative and do not refer to the trial court's findings. Mr. Mzik omits significant Findings of Fact found by trial court as well as substantial supporting facts which Mrs. Abernathy cited in the Statement of Facts above.

Few of those significant facts found in the trial court's Findings and the Record appears in Mrs. Mzik's Statement of Facts. The omissions are striking and it can hardly be said that any real attempt to marshal the evidence was made by him. Indeed, although Mr. Mzik acknowledges his duty to marshal the evidence, his Brief devotes only two sentences in his entire brief to "marshaling the evidence." (See,

Appellant's Brief at 15). That scant effort blatantly shows the failure to marshal.

In Interiors Contracting v. Smith, Halander, 881 P.2d 929 (Utah App. 1994), the Court elaborated on the burden to marshal the evidence.

In order to properly discharge the duty of marshaling the evidence, the challenger must present, in comprehensive and fastidious order, every scrap of competent evidence introduced at trial which supports the very finds the appellant resists. West Valley v. Majestic Inv. Co., 818 P.2d 1311, 1315. Coonrad's briefs merely re-emphasize evidence it deems supportive of its position, while ignoring evidence supportive of the trial court's findings. This effort thus fails at the threshold level of putting before us the evidence upon which the trial court's findings rest. Id. at 933.

II

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERTY INTERPRETED AND APPLIED THE TERM "EMOTIONAL DISTRESS" AS IT IS USED IN THE UTAH CIVIL STALKING INJUNCTION STATUE (UTAH CODE ANN. §76-5-106.5).

Mr. Mzik never develops a cogent argument on this point. Although he focuses entirely on the "emotional distress" aspect, totally ignoring that the applicable statute, Utah Code Annotated §76-5-106.5 (2001) defines stalking as:

(2) A person is guilty of stalking who:

(a) intentionally or knowingly engages in a course of conduct directed at a specific person that would cause a reasonable person:

(i) to fear bodily injury to himself or a member of his immediate family; or

(ii) to suffer emotional distress to himself or a member of his immediate family;

(b) has knowledge or should have knowledge that the specific person:

(i) will be placed in reasonable fear of bodily injury to himself or a member of his immediate family; or

(ii) will suffer emotional distress or a member of his immediate family will suffer emotional distress; and

(c) whose conduct:

(i) induces fear in the specific person of bodily injury to himself or a member of his immediate family; or

(ii) causes emotional distress in the specific person or a member of his immediate family.

The Statute specially includes the element of "fearing bodily injury to himself or a member of his immediate family." (Utah Code Annotated, §76-5-106.5 (2)(a)(i) (2001)). The Court in its Conclusion of Law specially concluded:

1. That the actions and statements made by the Respondent on January 3, 2005, January 10, 2005 and May 26, 2005 were threatening, intimidating and offensive to the Petitioner and others, and were intended to and did result in physical and emotional harm to Petitioner.

The following instances from the Record are telling:

On December 31, 2004 Mr. Mzik engaged in a telephone conversation with Ms. Abernathy that was "acrimonious, accusatory... including raised voices by Respondent." (Finding of Fact No. 6, Tr. at 11-19). That telephone call was "very upsetting to Petitioner and she testified that Respondent and his wife threatened legal action if their daughter's grade wasn't changed to an "A". (Finding of Fact No. 7, Tr. at 15). Although not specifically found to be a predicate act for purposes of Civil Stalking Injunction, it well could have been.

On January 3, 2005, Mr. Mzik and his wife met with Petitioner and the High School Principal in his office for approximately three hours regarding their daughter's grade in the AP English Class. (Finding of Fact No. 10, Tr. at 19). During that

meeting Mr. Mzik “raised his voice several times during this meeting, and at one point became so upset that he stood up, walked around Principal Fackrell’s desk, grabbed a sheet of paper off of his desk, tore it out of whatever it was being held in, crumpled it and threw it. (Finding of Fact No. 13, Tr. 65-69). Principal Fackrell further described Mr. Mzik as being “argumentative,” “combative” and that hostility was directed towards Petitioner. (Tr. at 77).

Principal Fackrell described the incident as “accusatory, uncomplimentary and quarrelsome, rating the environment as being an “8” on a scale of “0” to 10”. (Finding of Fact No. 14, Tr. at 65-69). Mr. Mzik did not deny that incident occurred as Principal Fackrell described it, but perhaps due to his “mental disorder” and “brain disorder” testified that he “could not recall it happening.” (Finding of Fact No. 15, Tr. at 112-13, 141). The Court characterized the incident as “physically threatening and violent.” (R. at 266).

Following these two incidents on school property, the school district had Mr. Mzik “trespassed” and barred from school premises due to his combative, threatening and hostile actions. (Tr. at 36 and 73).

The trial court found that Mr. Mzik’s conduct at the January 3, 2005 meeting at the Principal’s office (which he doesn’t even remember) was a “hostile circumstance,” and a “physically threatening and violent action that was intended to impose harm on Mrs. Abernathy and thus was sufficient to constitute:

“... the first act sufficient to cause a reasonable man or woman to

experience fear for his or her physical and/or emotional health; and thus this incident constituted a "hostile circumstance" for purposes of meeting the burden of proof for a Civil Stalking Injunction." (Finding of Fact No.20).

The trial court next found that Mr. Mzik's efforts on January 10, 2005 to record statements by Mrs. Abernathy and others was done without their prior consent, intentionally in an offensive, accusatory, confrontational and threatening manner, which caused Mrs. Abernathy to fear for her personal safety and had the effect of imposing emotional harm on her. (Finding of Fact No. 27). Mr. Mzik characterized his recording device as his "weapon" (Finding of Fact No. 32, Tr. at 114). The trial court found that the incident was sufficient to meet the burden of proof as a second act sufficient to cause a reasonable man or woman to experience fear for his or her physical safety and was intended to impose emotional harm on Petitioner. (Finding of Fact No. 33).

On May 26, 2005 at the Snow Canyon High School graduation Mr. Mzik left his seat during the ceremonies and sought out Mrs. Abernathy and her husband and after approaching within one foot of them, in a loud, accusatory and intimidating manner, stated "You are the most disgusting excuse for a teacher." (Finding of Fact No. 40, Tr. at 42, 127).

Mr. Mzik then provoked a physical altercation with Ms. Abernathy's husband. The incident caused her to fear emotionally and physically to the degree that she sought medical attention the same day at the IHC Medical Clinic in St. George, Utah

where she was diagnosed as having elevated blood pressure readings and trauma. (Finding of Fact No. 45, Tr. at 43, 49-51).

Mr. Mzik again could not explain or was not willing to explain his behavior, (Finding of Fact No. 39, Tr. at 129), but in his Brief concedes that his actions on this occasion did satisfy the requirements for finding "emotional distress." (Appellant's Brief at 17).

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